YPSILANTI COMMUNITY UTILITIES AUTHORITY

A\VAVATAY A VA

Yy Wit |
- L4

o
Dedicated to Providing Top Quality, Cost Effective, and Environmentally Safe
Water and Wastewater Services to Our Customers

YPSILANTI COMMUNITY UTILITIES AUTHORITY
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING

Tuesday, June 27,2006 — 4:00 p.m.

YCUA Administration Building

2777 State Road

Ypsilanti, MI 48198-9112

Members Present: Larry J. Doe, Edward B. Koryzno, Jr., and Philip W. Wagner.

Members Absent: Mark Namatevs and J. Ray Scott

1.
2.

CALL TO ORDER: Doe called the meeting to order at 4:05 p.m.

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING: Motion by Wagner to receive and file
the minutes of the May 23, 2006 meeting. Support by Koryzno. In favor: All. Opposed:

None. (Motion carried.)

NEW BUSINESS:
A.

Rehmann Robson Audit Contract Three-Year Extension - Larry R.
Thomas

Mr. Thomas directed the Board’s attention to a letter from the Authority’s
auditor, Mark Kettner of Rehmann Robson, regarding the extension of the
audit contract for three years with an option for an additional two years.
He indicated that Rehmann Robson was selected in 2003 through an RFP
process and has performed well through the three audit seasons. Mr.
Thomas also explained that staff is in agreement that the Authority would
be well served to continue with Rehmann Robson’s services for an
additional three years with the two optional years. He pointed out that the
RFP and selection process associated with choosing an auditing firm is
time consuming and that he does not feel the effort involved is worth the
potential reduction in costs possible through an RFP process. Mr. Thomas
explained that the letter enclosed lists the price for each year of the
agreement.

Mr. Thomas recommended approval of the selection of Rehmann Robson
as auditor for the Authority for three years with an option for an additional
two years.

Environmental Leaders



BOARD MEETING MINUTES
YPSILANTI COMMUNITY UTILITIES AUTHORITY

June 27, 2006
Page 2

Edward B. Koryzno, Jr. concurred with the recommendation and indicated
that the Authority has been well served by Rehmann Robson.

Motion by Koryzno to approve the selection of Rehmann Robson as
auditor for the Authority for three years with an option for an additional
two years. Support by Wagner. In favor: All. Opposed: None. (Motion
carried)

Draft Budget for Fiscal Year 2006 — 2007 - Larry R. Thomas

Mr. Thomas directed the Board’s attention to a draft budget for fiscal year
2006 —2007. He indicated that the budget is for their review and that it is
not necessary at this meeting to approve a budget. Mr. Thomas also
explained that the Board must approve a budget prior to September 1,
2006. He pointed out that the budget is conservatively built with little
increase in water or sewage usage. Mr. Thomas explained that the
increase in the cost of purchased water from DWSD was 11.3% and
increases in labor, utilities, and depreciation have increased expenses. He
further advised that, to keep rate increases down as much as possible, there
is little money generated for capital expenditures.

Mr. Thomas then gave a detailed reporting of the contents of the draft
budget and addressed questions from the Board.

Edward B. Koryzno, Jr. suggested that, in light of the narrow margin of
cash flow in the proposed budget and the depreciation issues, it would be
prudent for the Finance Committee to do a series of long-term projections
and formulate some recommendations in order to be proactive with future
budgeting issues. Mr. Thomas concurred and indicated that staff plans to
fund the depreciation over a few years.

Informational only; no motion from the Board required.

Request to Approve — Water and Sewer Rate Increase
Recommendation - Larry R. Thomas

Mr. Thomas advised the Board that the aforementioned budget includes
rate increases of Township water — 9%, City water — 5%, and City and
Township sewer — 3%. He indicated that these increases allow the budget
to cover operating expenses as well as bond principal payments. Mr.
Thomas also explained that these modest rate increases allow the
Authority to generate enough income to cover operations and maintenance
expenses and the bond principal payments expected for the fiscal year 06 -
07. He pointed out that, in order to have these increases take effect by
September 1%, the process needs to be initiated at this time. He further
advised that these are the rate increases included in the draft budget. Mr.
Thomas stated that approval of this recommendation will allow the
process to begin with City Council and the Township Board to enact these
Increases.



BOARD MEETING MINUTES
YPSILANTI COMMUNITY UTILITIES AUTHORITY

June 27, 2006
Page 3

He added that another item that will be recommended in this year’s budget
is the elimination, effective January 1, 2007, of the customer cost recovery
fee in the wastewater revenue and rate calculation. Mr. Thomas explained
that this is the fee that tax-exempt properties pay in both the city and the
township and originated when a millage was passed to pay for the cost of
the bond payments for the original construction. He added that the last
bond payment is due in 2007, which calls for an elimination of the CCR.

Mr. Thomas recommended approval of a 9% increase in the Township
water rate and the recommendation for a 5% water increase in the City
Division and a 3% sewer increase in both divisions.

Edward B. Koryzno, Jr. suggested that perhaps it would be wiser to put the
CCR on hold, rather than eliminate it completely, so that, in the event that
the city and township need to establish an ad velorum millage in the
future, the charge can be automatically put it into effect. Mr. Thomas
responded that he would have to research that possibility and indicated
that he had no knowledge of the applicable legal implications.

Motion by Koryzno to approve a 9% increase in the Township water rate
and the recommendation for a 5% water increase in the City Division and
a 3% sewer increase in both divisions. Support by Wagner. In favor: All.
Opposed: None. (Motion carried)

Request to Approve - Pine View Pumping Station Bypass Piping
Contract - T. Michael Jessee

Mr. Jessee directed the Board’s attention to his letter regarding the
installation of bypass pumping capability to the Authority’s Pine View
pump station. He indicated that YCUA entered into a District Compliance
Agreement with MDEQ several years ago requiring it to install bypass
piping to many of the Authority’s sewage pump stations. Mr. Jessee also
explained that, for the most part, these projects are done in-house with
YCUA personnel. He pointed out that the Pine View pump station is too
deep for the Authority’s equipment to handle and we have requested bids
for the project. Mr. Jessee explained that YCUA’s engineering staff
prepared the plans and the bidding documents. He further advised that
four prospective bidders requested bidding documents but only one bid
was received. Mr. Jessee stated that the sole bid, from CI Contracting,
was for $48,583. He acknowledged that staff has reviewed the bid and it
is in order. Mr. Jessee confirmed that this project must be completed for
YCUA to stay in compliance with its agreement with MDEQ. He
explained that this item is in the current budget and it is recommended that
reserve for construction funds be used.

Mr. Jessee recommended approval of the award of bid to CI Contracting
in the amount of $48,583 and a recommendation to the Township Board
for the use of reserve for construction funds.



BOARD MEETING MINUTES
YPSILANTI COMMUNITY UTILITIES AUTHORITY

June 27, 2006
Page 4

Edward B. Koryzno, Jr. inquired as to why there was only one bidder. Mr.
Jessee responded that this job is too large for small contractors and too
small for larger contractors.

Larry J. Doe inquired as to whether this project includes any of the other
four bypass stations. Mr. Jessee responded that the other bypass projects
would be done in-house for approximately $4,500 each for material and
equipment and should be completed over the next five years.

Motion by Wagner to approve the award of bid to CI Contracting in the
amount of $48,583 and a recommendation to the Township Board for the
use of reserve for construction funds. Support by Koryzno. In favor: All.
Opposed: None. (Motion carried)

Request to Approve - Forest Avenue Construction Services Proposal -
T. Michael Jessee

Mr. Jessee advised the Board that the City of Ypsilanti will be doing
roadwork on Forest Avenue this year. He indicated that again, in
conjunction with this project, the water main will be replaced. Mr. Jessee
also explained that the contract for replacement will be a city contract
covering both the road improvements and water main. He pointed out
that, as in the past, YCUA will contract with OHM for the construction
phase engineering services associated with the water main replacement.
Mr. Jessee explained that, as the water main will become an asset for
YCUA to maintain, it is staff’s opinion that YCUA should contract with
the engineer for these services. He further advised that this project is
being funded by city bond proceeds.

Mr. Jessee recommended approval of the engineering services proposal for
Forest Avenue construction in the amount not to exceed $45,400.

Motion by Koryzno to approve the engineering services proposal for
Forest Avenue construction in the amount not to exceed $45,400. Support
by Wagner. In favor: All. Opposed: None. (Motion carried)

Request for Final Acceptance - Party Time Ice Project as a Public
Utility - T. Michael Jessee

Mr. Jessee advised the Board that OHM has notified the Authority that
this project is complete and constructed within all specifications outlined
by YCUA. He indicated that this developer has met all requirements.

Mr. Jessee recommended acceptance of the Party Time Ice project
infrastructure as a public utility.

Motion by Wagner to approve acceptance of the Party Time Ice project
infrastructure as a public utility. Support by Koryzno. In favor: All.
Opposed: None. (Motion carried)



BOARD MEETING MINUTES
YPSILANTI COMMUNITY UTILITIES AUTHORITY

June 27, 2006
Page 5

Request for Final Acceptance - Charles Reinhart Office Building
Project as a Public Utility - T. Michael Jessee

Mr. Jessee advised the Board that OHM has notified the Authority that
this project is complete and constructed within all specifications outlined
by YCUA. He indicated that this developer has met all requirements.

Mr. Jessee recommended acceptance of the Charles Reinhart office
building project infrastructure as a public utility.

Motion by Wagner to approve acceptance of the Charles Reinhart office
building project infrastructure as a public utility. Support by Koryzno. In
favor: All. Opposed: None. (Motion carried)

Request for Final Acceptance - Huron Valley School Project as a
Public Utility - T. Michael Jessee

Mr. Jessee advised the Board that OHM has notified the Authority that
this project is complete and constructed within all specifications outlined
by YCUA. He indicated that this developer has met all requirements.

Mr. Jessee recommended acceptance of the Huron Valley School project
infrastructure as a public utility.

Motion by Wagner to approve acceptance of the Huron Valley School
project infrastructure as a public utility. Support by Koryzno. In favor:
All. Opposed: None. (Motion carried)

Request to Approve - Change Order No. 29 re: Wastewater
Treatment Plant Expansion/Improvements Project - T. Michael Jessee

Mr. Jessee directed the Board’s attention to Change Order No. 29 for the
WWTP expansion/improvements project as well as his memo regarding
the change order. He indicated that the change order covers several items
addressed in his memo and represents a decrease in the project cost in the
amount of $142,738. Mr. Jessee also explained that this change order
brings total changes to $3,910,017. He pointed out that the change order
addresses items that were discovered during the project as well as changes
that staff requested.

Larry R. Thomas interjected that staff has discovered an inconsistency in
the contingency trust fund, which effects the amount that is available to
complete the project. He indicated that, by his calculations, there should
be $682,000 remaining when, in fact, there is $427,000, creating a
$255,000 variance. Mr. Thomas added that he has been able to contribute
some of the discrepancy to the fees that are paid to the Bank of Ann Arbor
to administer the trust. He advised that he did not realize those fees would
be separated; he thought the interest amount in the bank statements is net,
which resulted in $108,000 in fees that were not calculated into the fund.
Mr. Thomas also indicated that there were also several small payments



BOARD MEETING MINUTES
YPSILANTI COMMUNITY UTILITIES AUTHORITY

June 27, 2006
Page 6

made to contractors and entities other than Spence, Christman, or Tetra
Tech MPS, which total approximately $19,000. He stated that he
continues to research the origin of the other costs and suggested that there
may have been some of the original design costs paid out of the bond
proceed funds, which should have been paid from lease funds and can be
transferred back to the trust. He advised there is approximately $197,000
worth of change orders forthcoming, 28% of which will be YCUA’s
responsibility, creating an overall contingency trust fund shortfall of
$51,000. Mr. Thomas also indicated that the Finance Committee is
presently considering a budget amendment from Tetra Tech MPS that will
increase that shortfall. He stated that he hoped to have a recommendation
in place for the July Board meeting that will allow the transfer of funds
from the lease fund to the expansion project contingency trust fund.

Mr. Jessee recommended approval of Change Order No. 29 in the credit
amount of $142,738.

Motion by Koryzno to approve Change Order No. 29 in the credit amount
of $142,738. Support by Wagner. In favor: All. Opposed: None. (Motion
carried)

Fund Balance Report - Larry R. Thomas

Mr. Thomas directed the Board’s attention to the Fund Balance Report.
He then proceeded to give a detailed report of the information contained in
the report and answered questions from the Board.

Mr. Thomas pointed out that the report shows a cash shortfall in both City
and Township Divisions, which is the result of bond payments made in the
spring as well as payments made on capital improvements from the fund
balance rather than revenues.

Informational only; no motion from the Board required.
Financial Report — Authority Net Assets - Larry R. Thomas

Mr. Thomas directed the Board’s attention to the Financial Report —
Authority Net Assets Reports for May. He then proceeded to give a
detailed report of the information contained in the reports and answered
questions from the Board.

Edward B. Koryzno, Jr. inquired as to whether there is potentially going to
be a cash loss above and beyond the depreciation issue. Mr. Thomas
responded affirmatively, but indicated that the money will be recouped
from the Reserve for Construction Fund.

Informational only; no motion from the Board required.

Usage Report — Consumption Report - Larry R. Thomas



BOARD MEETING MINUTES
YPSILANTI COMMUNITY UTILITIES AUTHORITY

June 27, 2006
Page 7

Mr. Thomas directed the Board’s attention to the Consumption Report.
He then proceeded to give a detailed report of the information contained in
the reports and answered questions from the Board.

Edward B. Koryzno, Jr. thanked Jeffrey L. Williams for putting the report
in a format that is much easier to understand.

Informational only; no motion from the Board required.
Director’s Report - Larry R. Thomas

Mr. Thomas reiterated his email from earlier in the week that indicated the
Authority has declined to accept the DWRF loan due to a difficulty with
one of the bidders, which resulted in a concern that YCUA would not be
entering into a contract with the low bidder. He indicated that because
there is some question about being able to contract with the second bidder,
the project could not proceed. Mr. Thomas advised that the Authority will
re-bid the project at a later date in the hopes that they can resume early
next year.

Philip W. Wagner inquired as to whether it would be prudent to include in
the Authority’s financial policy language requiring performance bonds for
all projects over $50,000. Mr. Thomas responded that YCUA does require
performance bonds for all projects but that the problem occurred in that
selecting the second highest bidder could possibly result in the Authority
being responsible for the costs.

Edward B. Koryzno, Jr. suggested that staff put together some
recommendations on this issue to the Finance Committee for their
consideration.

Larry R. Thomas then advised the Board that the Authority has had a
successful run of the replacement incinerator beginning two weeks prior
and that the performance testing is scheduled to re-commence on July 17"

4, OLD BUSINESS:
There was no old business for the month.
5. OTHER BUSINESS:

Edward B. Koryzno, Jr. commented that he recently had first hand experience as a
customer of YCUA and that the two Authority employees that came to his
residence to televise his sewer lead were very professional and knowledgeable
and did a great job.

Philip W. Wagner commented that he, too, had experience the week previous with
a customer in Ypsilanti Township that had a sewer problem at Georgina and
Jeffrey. He indicated that the customer had nothing but praise for the YCUA
service crew that responded.



BOARD MEETING MINUTES

YPSILANTI COMMUNITY UTILITIES AUTHORITY
June 27, 2006

Page 8

T. Michael Jessee advised the Board that the Authority is proceeding with the
Textile Water Main Project Phase II. He recommended approval of the project
with a budget not to exceed $250,000.

Motion by Wagner to approve the Textile Water Main Project Phase II project
with a budget not to exceed $250,000. Support by Koryzno. In favor: All.
Opposed: None. (Motion carried)

Philip W. Wagner interjected that he is aware that staff is working on the Tuttle
Hill side from Textile south and inquired as to whether there is a need to do
anything more with that portion. T. Michael Jessee responded that the water main
there is in good condition and no work is required there. He indicated that the
same held true for the sanitary main.

Mr. Jessee then directed the Board attention to a Construction Engineering
Proposal from OHM in conjunction with the same project. He recommended
approval of the proposal in an amount not to exceed $37,000.

Motion by Wagner to approve the Construction Engineering Proposal from OHM
in an amount not to exceed $37,000. Support by Koryzno. In favor: All
Opposed: None. (Motion carried)

6. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS: Motion by Doe to pay the bills in the amount of
$2,359,861.28 plus an addendum in the amount of $3,718,304.32. Support by Wagner.
In favor: All. Opposed: None. (Motion carried.)

7. PUBLIC COMMENTS:
There was no old business for the month.

8. ADJOURNMENT: Motion by Koryzno to adjourn the meeting at 4:59.m. Support by
Wagner. In favor: All. Opposed: None. (Motion carried)

o B0 Respectfully submitted,

. & X o~ r) 7 £
F - 2ol X
< K . T
Gw - ~\ 1
-~ I TS
O DORNLTY 4
- q e o

% Y. -~ MARK NAMATEVS, Secretary/Treasurer

'''''




<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


